Adam Brain, Nilima Gulrajani and Jonathan Mitchell

April 2014

EPS PEAKS Our Expertise. Your Knowledge.

ECONOMIC AND PRIVATE SECTOR PROFESSIONAL EVIDENCE AND APPLIED KNOWLEDGE SERVICES

Meeting the challenge: How can enterprise challenge funds be made to work better





O

LSE Enterprise

EPS-PEAKS is a consortium of organisations that provides Economics and Private Sector Professional Evidence and Applied Knowledge Services to the DfID. The core services include:

- 1) Helpdesk
- 2) Document library
- 3) Information on training and e-learning opportunities
- 4) Topic guides
- 5) Structured professional development sessions
- 6) E-Bulletin

To find out more or access EPS-PEAKS services or feedback on this or other output, visit the EPS-PEAKS community on <u>http://partnerplatform.org/eps-peaks</u> or contact Yurendra Basnett, Knowledge Manager, EPS-PEAKS core services at <u>v.basnett@odi.org.uk.</u>

Disclaimer Statement:

The views presented in this paper are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the views of Consortium partner organisations, DFID or the UK Government. The authors take full responsibility for any errors or omissions contained in this report.

Meeting the challenge: how can enterprise challenge funds be made to work better?

Executive Summary

Enterprise challenge funds made a spectacular entrance onto the development landscape with early experiments providing direct support to the private sector in the late 1990s. In the past 15 years a number of donors - principally the Department for International Development (DFID), but also Australia's Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade (DFAT) and the Swedish International Development Agency (SIDA) - have spent about £850m on this aid modality. A large proportion of this spend has been disbursed through challenge funds in social sectors (such as the massive £355 million Girls Education Challenge) - but our focus here is the type of funds which have private sector grantees that are intended to create jobs and incomes.

Specifically, this topic guide seeks to explain:

- the evolution of challenge funds;
- the conceptual rationale for their use;
- their use in practice;
- findings on the effectiveness of challenge funds; and
- how the lessons learned should inform future challenge funds.

The first generation of DFID enterprise challenge funds in the late 1990s were designed to incentivise corporates to establish partnerships with DFID and leverage the corporates' own resources and local knowledge. A competitive and transparent selection process was adopted to ensure that only the best projects were funded. This also helped protect DFID from charges that it was favouring particular private sector firms with public grant funding. More recently, challenge funds have emphasised innovation and have sought a broader impact than just the individual businesses supported – through inclusive scale-up and replication. These objectives have become an important element of the rationale for using public funds to finance private sector organisations.

In practice, enterprise challenge funds have been used to support diverse projects in a wide variety of areas. Funds can be constructed in many different ways, including a varied focus on geography, sector, management style and the type of assistance provided. Some funds specialise on one geographical area (in some cases just one country), and others focus upon one or more sectors of the economy. The role of the fund manager varies considerably in terms of the intensity of involvement. It can take a "light touch" arrangement, restricted to marketing the fund, managing the selection process and managing the funds. Conversely it can also be much more intensive, such as providing guidance in the writing of applications, and technical support during project implementation. Grant funds can be provided as financial contribution, or be used to cover the expense of technical assistance. Most challenge funds are managed, for a fee, by private sector or NGO entities. To date almost all challenge funds have provided financial contributions matched with some form of financial or in-kind contribution from the grantee.





SPENT ON CHALLENGE FUNDS Our assessment of the impact of challenge funds reveals the dearth of rigorous evaluation of the impact of this modality. In place of proper evaluation are a plethora of reviews which often do not take account of basic evaluation requirements such as an assessment of additionality, attribution or impacts (whether positive or negative) beyond the funded project. As such it is not possible to conclude with any confidence what has been the development impact of the public funds spent through challenge funds. However, there are recent and real signs that the assessment of impact is improving. In terms of monitoring the impact of challenge funds, the DCED Standard is introducing some rigour into the process. In addition, DFID is committing significant resources to the monitoring and evaluation (M&E) of challenge funds.

We conclude this topic guide with suggestions to improve the next generation of challenge funds. We suggest that challenge funds in the future should:

- Recognise that poorly designed funds can cause damage to local economies, and adopt a "do no harm" principle;
 - Significantly improve monitoring and evaluation of challenge funds, through:
 - considering the applicability of the DCED Standard to challenge funds, and in particular the nuanced application of the standard across a programme's portfolio; and
- selecting priority challenge funds where M&E resources can be best directed to conduct in-depth analyses and generate lessons. This could provide the foundations for a cluster evaluation that would improve understanding of the necessary context and conditions for successful challenge fund implementation, as well as draw comparisons with other aid modalities.
- Recognise that pushing fund manager fees below 20% of the grant value may be a false economy that could constrain the ability of funds to have catalytic effects;

- Consider a broader range of financing options than matching grants; and
- Not be used as a short-cut to good development practice and require strategic frameworks, plausible results chains, results chains and theories of change.

So it seems there are fewer reasons not to answer the fundamental question of whether, and how, challenge funds work. Before long, we may even be able to assess with some confidence how their performance compares to other approaches to stimulating private sector development.

" We choose to go... not because [it is] easy, but because [it is] hard, because that goal will serve to measure and organize the best of our energies and skills, because that challenge is one that we are willing to accept, one we are unwilling to postpone, and one which we intend to win."



John F Kennedy

About the Authors

Adam Brain

Adam Brain is an Assistant Manager within Coffey's Economic Growth practice and has established and managed a variety of donor-funded enterprise challenge funds working in sub-Saharan Africa and Asia. Adam has recently advised on the establishment of Challenge Funds for DFID and the GSMA, which provide combinations of financial and technical assistance to private sector organisations in wholesale and retail, water and energy sectors.

Nilima Gulrajani

Nilima Gulrajani is a Senior Researcher at the University of Oxford and specialises in the organisational design, performance and management of public and private sector bodies working on global poverty alleviation. Nilima recently conducted a study assessing the potential of the challenge fund modality to address gender challenges in development.

Jonathan Mitchell

Jonathan Mitchell is the Practice Leader of Coffey's Economic Growth practice and has worked for over 20 years in private sector development in areas including market development, market linkages, value chain analysis and SME promotion. Prior to Joining Coffey, Jonathan was Head of the Private Sector and Markets team at the Overseas Development Institute.

Contents

Abbreviations		4
Section 1	Introduction	5
	Research methods	6
	Definitions	6
	Challenge funds in development	7
	Initial focus on partnerships	7
	The evolution of challenge funds	8
Section 2	Conceptual basis for challenge funds	10
	A tool for financing innovation	10
	Support to inclusive business	11
	Challenge funds and systemic change	12
Section 3	Practical Application	13
	Breadth versus depth	13
	Role and cost of the fund manager	14
	Size of the grant	15
	Attitude to risk	15
	Who manages the challenge fund?	16
	Decentralisation	16
	Financing options	16
Section 4	Assessment of Impact	19
	Quality of evidence	19
	Evaluation	19
	Assessment of current practice	21
	Donor Committee for Enterprise Development (DCED) Standard	21
	Does current practice meet the standard?	22
Section 5	Learning the lessons from challenge funds	24
References		25
Annexes		27

Abbreviations

AECF	Africa Enterprise Challenge Fund
ADB	Asian Development Bank
AusAID	Australian International Development
BLCF	Business Linkages Challenge Fund
CGAP	Consultative Group to Assist the Poor
CIDA	Canadian International Development Agency
DANIDA	Danish International Development Agency
DCED	Donor Committee on Enterprise Development
DFID	Department for International Development
ECF	Enterprise Challenge Fund
FDCF	Financial Deepening Challenge Fund
FRICH	Food Retail Industry Challenge Fund
GEC	Girls Education Challenge
GSMA	Groupe Speciale Mobile Association
IDB	Inter-American Development Bank
ILO	International Labour Organisation
M&E	Monitoring and Evaluation
MBRAM	Mohammed bin Rashid Al Maktoum
NGOs	Non-Governmental Organisations
PSD	Private Sector Development
SIDA	Swedish International Development Agency
USAID	United States Agency for International Development
WHO	World Health Organisation

1.0 Introduction

The challenge fund is a mechanism for the delivery of development assistance that emerged in the late 1990s. DFID, in particular, has led the use of challenge funds to partner with private businesses (enterprise challenge funds) and with civil society organisations and NGOs (such as through the Civil Society Challenge Fund; and the Girls Education Challenge).¹ There are clear signs that other donors are also showing an increasing interest in using challenge funds to deliver both public and private aid. Figures 1 and 2 highlight the rapid growth in the number and financial value of enterprise challenge funds.

This topic guide reviews the recent experience of challenge funding and examines the evidence of their impact and overall effectiveness. It also proposes the means by which additional future challenge funds can be strengthened in the future. Specifically, this topic guide seeks to explain:

- the evolution of challenge funds;
- the conceptual rationale for their use;
- their use in practice;
- findings on the effectiveness of challenge funds; and
- how the lessons learned should inform future challenge funds.

Figure 1: Activity levels of challenge funds (1999-2013)







¹ A catalogue of challenge fund implementations is set out in Annex 2. This has been populated using project descriptions from donor websites and other challenge fund literature. The catalogue does not form an exhaustive list, and this guide acknowledges there may be additional examples that have not been included.

² Figures for 2014–2017 are based on confirmed timescales for current challenge funds. Past evidence shows that these are likely to be extended, which will result in a continued upward trend in spending.

1.1 Research methods

This review was undertaken as a desk exercise by Coffey International Development. This mainly involved reviewing secondary data, primarily in the form of practitioner, donor and "grey" reports on enterprise challenge funds. To strengthen the evidence base, this topic guide draws from the following additional sources:

- the limited academic literature available on donor engagement with private actors;
- telephone interviews with challenge fund managers;³ and
- our own institutional experience of implementing some 15 challenge funds for a variety of funders since 1999, and evaluating relevant projects implemented by other organisations.

It should be acknowledged that very little of the evidence used in this topic guide has been subject to critical peer review. In fact, as much of the evidence generated by challenge funds is collected by the recipients of grant funding, there are a priori grounds for questioning the independence of these sources of data and analysis. The reason we made use of this relatively weak empirical base is the lack of a credible alternative. In this guide we highlight the strength of evidence available, and also data gaps remaining.

DRAWN FROM INSTITUTIONAL EXPERIENCE OF IMPLEMENTING



1.2 Definitions

The most helpful definition of challenge funding can be found in a 2012 review of the challenge funds modality commissioned by SIDA.

"A challenge fund is a financing mechanism to allocate donor funds for specific purposes using competition among organisations as the lead principle. A challenge fund invites proposals from companies, organisations and institutions working in a targeted field to submit project proposals. Challenge funds are always set up to meet specific objectives such as: extending financial services to poor people; finding solutions to a specific health problem in developing countries; as a means of triggering investment to certain high-risk markets; to stimulate innovation for effective use of water resources, etc. The scope of using challenge funds for creative problem-solving in development is very wide. Proposals are assessed against transparent and predetermined criteria. Successful applicants must usually match a certain percentage of the grant with own financing. The challenge fund awards grants to those projects that best meet the objectives of the fund and fulfill various pre-established eligibility criteria."4

From this definition it can be seen that challenge funds offer a somewhat different approach to other forms of donor support⁵ in that they are:

A competitive and transparent selection process: Unlike many other donor funding mechanisms, which appraise applications on their individual development potential and award grants on a discretionary basis, challenge funds implement a competitive and transparent selection mechanism – often the donor has only a minority vote in the grant-awarding process. Applications that are deemed to have best met the eligibility criteria are awarded funding.⁶ Through this mechanism, applying organisations are incentivised into making applications as strong and innovative as possible to maximise their chances of receiving support.

Non-prescriptive: The nature of a challenge fund approach means that the fund manager outlines broad development and commercial eligibility criteria that supported projects are expected to meet. By doing this, as opposed to prescribing a specific approach to tackling a development challenge, it can result in innovative solutions being proposed that may leverage efficiencies from private actors. ³ A list of interviewees is provided in Annex 4.

⁴ SIDA (2012), "Guidelines: Challenge Funds. A guide based on SIDA's and other actors' work using challenge funds in development assistance/as a method for development."

⁵ SIDA, Ibid.

⁶ A standardised challenge fund selection process is set out in Annex 1. **Demand driven:** All projects supported by challenge funds are solutions proposed by the implementing organisations, and proponents of challenge funds argue they are also likely to be practical, and may outline realistic and achievable project targets that the implementer is confident can be met.

Flexible support: Challenge funds are not limited to providing financial support to projects. Indeed, technical assistance has also been provided through competitive mechanisms as a standalone product, or as part of a combination of support services to private actors. The same can be said of challenge funds that target NGOs, where in addition to grant-funding organisations, there is also competition for the time of technical specialists to support project implementation.⁷

1.3 Challenge funds in development

The origins of the challenge funding methodology can be traced back to the 1700s, when the British government offered a reward of £20,000 to anyone who could develop a way of measuring a ship's longitude.⁸ However, the use of transparent financial incentives by governments to encourage partnership initiatives in disadvantaged areas was only mainstreamed in the 1980s and 1990s.⁹

These proposals were then judged on a competitive basis at a national level, and grants awarded to the proposals that best met the judging criteria.¹⁰ DFID's view was that these challenge funds in the UK had promoted

"innovation in the delivery of services and greater efficiency of resource use. The competitive process acts both as a spur for efficiency and for transparency of public resource allocation".¹¹

Having invested significantly in various forms of enterprise development activities by the late 1990s, DFID wished to "develop new approaches to working in partnership with the private sector, which can play a key role in poverty eradication".¹² DFID explored the use of challenge funding in development through a number of challenge funds in the late 1990s, and is considered amongst its peers to have been "a pioneer in setting up challenge funds for development purposes".¹³

Although DFID has primarily used challenge funding as a transparent means of providing grant funding to businesses, DFID has also employed the mechanism on non-businessrelated themes. One early initiative was the Civil Society Challenge fund, and more recently the Girls Education Challenge (a fund of approximately £355 million). However, the focus of many DFID challenge funds and those of its donor partners have been business/ market related. It is for this reason that enterprise challenge funds form the focus of this topic guide.

1.4 Initial focus on partnerships

At the outset, DFID's use of challenge funding had a focus on the formation of new partnerships, such as those between the private sector and NGOs, trade associations and government agencies. It recognised that this would require a "new way of working, both in terms of the process of bidding for funds and the working relationships needed between the 'partners'...which may not have had experience of working collaboratively".¹⁴

The wider policy context was supportive of this process with partnerships being a keystone of the 1997 White Paper on International Development. The White Paper stated that "There is a shared interest in a constructive approach between Government and business to support sustainable development" as a mechanism to achieve objectives. The aim was that partnership with business would "extend the range of skills and experience applied to objectives and in many cases leverage additional significant financial resources". In consultation with businesses in DFID's partner countries and some business groups in the UK, two business partnership challenge funds were established:

- The Financial Deepening Challenge Fund (FDCF); and
- The Business Linkages Challenge Fund (BLCF).

These challenge funds were intended both to help DFID achieve its objectives and to establish purposeful proactive partnerships between DFID and the private sector, from which DFID and business could learn lessons.¹⁵ can be traced back to the **1700s** when the British government offered a reward of £20,000 to anyone who could develop a way of measuring a ship's longitude.

Challenge funds



⁷ Civil Society Challenge Fund (2013) https://www.gov.uk/civilsociety-challenge-fund

⁸ Prize Funds are the earliest example of a mechanism that offers incentives to encourage innovation from public and private actors. See Bays, J. and Jansen, P. (2009), "Prizes: A Winning Strategy for Innovation", in What Matters.

⁹ Hall, S. and Mawson, J. (1999), "Lessons for area regeneration from policy development in the 1990s".

¹¹ DFID (1999), "Terms of Reference: Financial Deepening fund manager"

12 Ibid.

¹⁵ DFID (1999), "Terms of Reference: Business Linkages Challenge fund manager".

[°] Ibia

¹³ SIDA, op cit.

¹⁴ Ibid.

Recognising concerns about providing donor support to profit-making privately owned companies, the challenge funding methodology offered

" a transparent and competitive process for business-led approaches to meeting poverty elimination objectives of mutual interest ".¹⁶

A key element of the challenge fund mechanism was the use of "competition to determine how public funds can be allocated to best effect".¹⁷ The focus upon other aspects of challenge funding, such as innovation, has developed subsequently and primarily through the inputs of external reviewers.

Given the time-lag between the outputs of funded projects, and the projected impacts at beneficiary level, evaluations undertaken on completion of the FDCF¹⁸ primarily focused on fund manager performance (in terms of costs of implementation and management efficiency) and the outputs of funded projects rather than the linkages between funded projects and development impact at beneficiary level. It was therefore on the basis of factors such as extended reach for financial services that the FDCF was seen as being both innovative and successful.

1.5 The evolution of challenge funds

Donors commissioned further challenge funds, including through the recommendation that Africa would benefit from its own private sector financing facility – the £125 million Africa Enterprise Challenge Fund (AECF).¹⁹ The approach also drew the attention of other international donors, namely AusAID, which launched the Enterprise Challenge fund in 2007.

The FDCF and BLCF informed the design and implementation of following challenge funds such as the AusAID Enterprise Challenge Fund (ECF); and the Africa Enterprise Challenge Fund. Lessons learned from these challenge funds and recommended for adoption within subsequent challenge fund implementations include the following:²⁰

- The role of the fund manager should be less "hands-off" disburser of grants, and more a "hands-on" investor of social venture capital.
- The purpose of any challenge fund should be to contribute to wider systemic (beyond project level) change.
- The "challenge" of challenge funds should be clearly defined, and informed by research, engagement and experience.
- Money should be seen as just one of the tools a fund manager has for engaging effectively with private firms.
- Larger firms represent stronger partners, with greater implementation capacity, and larger projects with larger firms tend to offer more potential for systemic impact.
- Firms should concentrate on delivering the commercial (private) objectives of the project. The fund manager should concentrate on ensuring the social (public) objectives of the fund are measurable and significant.

£125 MILLION



It was recommended that Africa would benefit from its own private sector financing facility – the £125 million Africa Enterprise Challenge Fund (AECF).

¹⁶ DFID (1999b), "Terms of Reference: Financial Deepening fund manager".

¹⁷ Ibid.

¹⁸ OPM (2008), "Review of DFID's Financial Deepening Challenge Fund"; and Irwin, D. and Porteous, D. (2005), "Financial Deepening Challenge Fund Output to Purpose Review".

¹⁹ Commission for Africa (2005), "Our Common Interest: Report of the Commission for Africa".

²⁰ Enterprise Challenge fund (2009) Mid Term Review; Business Linkages Challenge fund (2004) BLCF: Assessing Achievements and Future Directions Financial Deepening Challenge fund (2004) and; FDCF: Assessing its Achievements and Possible Future Directions

Challenge Fund Donor	Star	Finish	Size of Grant
			Funds
Financial Deepening Challenge Fund DFID	1999	2007	£18,500,000
Business Linkages Challenge Fund DFID	2000	2008	£14,700,000
Innovations Against Poverty SIDA	2010	2015	£3,906,000
ProPoor Innovation Challenge CGAP	2000	2005	unknown
Civil Society Challenge Fund DFID	2000	2015	£67,000,000
	DA, AusAID, Netherlands 2008 of Development Cooperation,	3 2017	£125,000,000
Enterprise Challenge Fund AusAID	2007	2013	£6,030,000
Food Retail Industry Challenge Fund DFID	2007	2013	£7,100,000
	A, DFID and Caribbean 2012 nent Bank	2 2017	unknown
Grand Challenges Canada CIDA	2008	3 2017	£123,825,000
COOP Africa Challenge Fund ILO	2008	3 2013	£1,826,000
Grand Challenges Explorations Initiative Bill and M	Melinda Gates Foundation2008	3 2017	£60,900,000
Financial Education Fund DFID	2009	2017	£2,500,000
Vietnam Market Participation Challenge Fund DFID, AD	B 2009	2015	£8,800,000
Sawaed Programme MBRAM	Foundation 2009	2014	unknown
Business Innovation Facility DFID	2010	2013	£3,000,000
Responsible and Accountable GarmentDFIDSector Challenge Fund	2010	2013	£2,900,000
Development Innovation Ventures USAID	2010	2015	£18,865,000
Girls Education Challenge DFID	2012	2 2016	£355,000,000
Grand Challenges for Development Initiative USAID	2017	2015	£15,214,000
Afghanistan Business Innovation Fund DFID	2017	2016	£2,500,000
Construction Ideas Fund DFID	2012	2 2013	£2,500,000
Mobile Money for the Unbanked (MMU) Fund GSMA (E Foundati	ill and Melinda Gates 2009 on)	2012	£7,500,000
	ill and Melinda Gates 201 ⁻ on and USAID)	2014	£1,200,000
mWomen Innovation Fund GSMA (A	usAID and USAID) 2012	2 2015	£1,500,000
Mobile Enabled Community Services (MECS) GSMA (E Innovation Fund	PFID) 2013	3 2014	£2,200,000
Total			£852,466,000

Table 1: Start and finish dates for a range of challenge funds

2.0 Conceptual basis for challenge funds

2.1 A tool for financing innovation

The rationale for challenge funds has, over time, become increasingly linked to the financing of innovation, which is viewed as an area of significant potential for solving development challenges.²¹ Where funding gaps exist, challenge funds may play a role by ensuring (through competitive processes) that innovations with the highest potential to provide development benefits receive grant support. However, challenge funds must distinguish between innovations that are likely to reach the market of their own accord so as to maximise the effectiveness of donor spending.

Financing and technical assistance is crucial for early stage innovations, as the costs involved with bringing the innovation to market are likely to be beyond the financial capacity of many early stage businesses and their owners. Examples of these costs can include: research and development, product conception; prototype development, market definition and testing; and initial production, shipping and marketing.²² Based on these development milestones and financing needs, several financing stages can be distinguished, each characterised by its specific amount and use of financial resources:²³

The seed stage covers the initial

concept, focused on determining its

technical feasibility, market potential

research and development of

and economic viability.

The start-up stage covers

a commercial idea or business



the development of a product prototype; initial market research and marketreach activities, and the establishment of a formal business organisation. The early-growth stage pertains





to small-scale commercialisation and growth, as well as to the development of the pillars for the scalability of the business.

The expansion stage covers the substantial growth in the scale and market impact of the business.



²¹ DFID (2012) Promoting innovation and evidencebased approaches to building resilience and responding to humanitarian crises: A DFID Strategy Paper

²² Hall, B. H., and Lerner, J. (2009), The Financing of R&D and Innovation.

²³ United Nations (2009), "Policy options and Instruments for Financing Innovation: A Practical Guide to Early-Stage Financing".

Summarising innovation literature

Traditional models of innovation theory outline that innovation is a linear process of scientific discovery resulting in technology which satisfies market needs. It conceives of commercial research and development as applied science and envisions a smooth, uni-directional flow from basic scientific research to commercial applications.²⁵

However, more recent literatures claim that external support or intervention may be required to ensure that promising innovations can progress to full commercial application.²⁶ Support may be required for the following reasons:

- There is a degree of uncertainty over the outputs of innovative projects, as the scope and focus of the project is likely to change throughout implementation.
- Where the focus of innovative projects remains consistent to the terms of investment there are also risks related to the market uptake of project outputs and whether this will generate a sufficient return on investment for financing organisations.

A high proportion of costs for innovative activities are related to R&D, and more specifically the wages and salaries of highly educated professionals that bring tacit knowledge to projects. This human capital is highly mobile and represents a high risk to financing organisations should individuals leave the project.

²⁵ Edquist, C. and Hommen, L. (1999), "Systems of innovation: theory and policy for the demand side", in Technology in Society, 21:1, pp. 63–79

²⁶ Hall, B. (2005), "The Financing of Innovation", in Oxford Review of Economic Policy.

²⁷ Ashley, C. (2009), "Harnessing Core Business for Development Impact: Evolving Ideas and Issues for Action".

²⁸ Ibid. ²⁹ Ibid.

2.2 Support to inclusive business

Challenge funds have been also been referred to as instruments to support "inclusive business" activities.²⁷ The literature on inclusive business offers many different definitions of the concept. However there is consensus that inclusive business entails creating a net positive development impact through a financially profitable business model. The key rationale for challenge funds is to incentivise inclusive business, and there is evidence in the literature of four types of inclusive business models, which are also explained further in the diagram below: ²⁸



selling products and services that are needed by the poor and have a high development impact;

large companies take deliberate action to expand development impacts through supply and distribution chains or R&D;



domestic small and medium enterprises that have local economic development as an explicit driver because they are embedded in the local economy; and



social enterprises whose core product is of high social value.

Challenge funds offer a competitively allocated supply-side subsidy to inclusive businesses, with the logic behind these subsidies being to increase the supply of goods and services that provide positive development externalities.

Figure 4: How challenge funds incentivise private actors into participating in inclusive business activities ²⁹



Example A:

Mobile phones and banking services appropriate for poor people

Example B:

Oil/gas/mining company supporting SME development via the supply chain

Example C:

Domestic leisure firm prioritising labour-intensive entertainment and local staff training

Example D:

Provision of essential drugs and basic health services via a micro franchising distribution model set up by a non-profit organisation

2.3 Challenge funds and systemic change

Market-related development involves understanding complex market systems. Systems thinking should be incorporated into the diagnosis of market systems and developing interventions in order to achieve "systemic impact" (when a development intervention results in the wider market system, or players in the market, responding, or changing behaviour, leading to additional development impact).³⁰ A debate has emerged focusing on whether challenge funds can support the establishment of innovations that create favourable systemic change.

Challenge funds have also been criticised for focusing heavily on expanding the size and scale of innovative activities with high propoor potential, without clearly understanding the wider behavioural impacts on the market system as a whole of the introduction of such an innovation.³¹

" Unless it [behavioral additionality] is taken seriously, and unless it's realised in practice, challenge grants cannot be deemed 'transformational' but, rather, national governments would need to adopt a more permanent public good funding focus to innovation. From a review of wider experience, only one evaluation globally was found to have considered this issue explicitly and concluded that grants (alone and discrete) did not realise any behavioral additionality (i.e. they have not proven transformational)." ³² Conceptually, there is no reason why challenge funds cannot have systemic impact. Provided fund managers have:

- conducted sufficient market systems analysis to identify systemic constraints;
- approved projects which are able to overcome these constraints; and
- shared success stories with other firms struggling with the same constraint.

There is no reason why the immediate and direct impacts of challenge funding cannot be replicated along supply chains and throughout local economies. In practice, this longer-term goal of achieving systemic change has often been under-prioritised compared with the pressure to disburse funds to suitable grantees and achieve immediate performance targets from directly funded projects.

The conclusion is that more time should be invested by practitioners in understanding market systems before considering whether a challenge fund provides the best solution. Provided that firm evidence is identified of an underlying constraint, and that grant finance is a suitable tool, there is no reason why a challenge fund cannot result in wider actors in the market system changing their behaviour. ³⁰ Taylor, B. (2013), Evidence-Based Policy and Systemic Change: Conflicting Trends?, The Springfield Centre.

³¹ Elliott (2013) "Exploding the myth of Challenge funds – a start at least" The Springfield Centre

³² Elliott (2013) "Exploding the myth of Challenge funds – a start at least" The Springfield Centre

Figure 5: A graphical illustration of how a single challenge fund grant can stimulate systemic change



3.0 Practical Application

This section distils the key issues arising from the 27 enterprise challenge funds in Table 1 over the past decade and, together with a literature review and practitioner interviews, highlights practical considerations in their implementation.³³

The first and most obvious point is the striking heterogeneity amongst this single category of aid modality. Our sample includes challenge funds which have been supported by donors from different bilateral programmes and, more recently, the private sector.

3.1 Breadth versus depth

Challenge funds have adopted a variety of approaches - from small, specialised challenge funds focusing on a single country (or even a single sector in a single country), to a narrow theme (garments industry or supermarkets), to large-scale challenge funds with broad purposes and several funding windows.³⁴ The extent of geographical and sector specificity is well illustrated by AusAID's Enterprise Challenge fund, which targeted nine countries in the Asia Pacific. DFID challenge funds have tended to have a stronger sectoral than geographical specialisation: Business Linkages Challenge Fund (BLCF), Africa Enterprise Challenge Fund (AECF), Financial Deepening Challenge Fund (FDCF) and the Food Retail Industry Challenge Funds (FRICH).

The key rationale for keeping challenge funds as broad as possible is to maximise the number of eligible grantees, and so encourage stronger competition and private sector innovation and increase the likelihood of fund resources being fully utilised. " Enterprise challenge funds should aim to promote private sector innovation wherever it might be found, rather than limiting their scope to narrow geographic regions or individual sectors of the economy ".³⁵

There are empirical grounds for this viewpoint. For instance, too narrow a focus – compounded by weak project design – resulted in an insufficient quality of applications, which led to the premature closure of the BLCF in Ghana.³⁶

The perils of narrow targeting of challenge funds³⁷

The AECF operates from regional hubs in Nairobi, Johannesburg and Accra and is active in 23 African countries and has country-specific windows, focusing on agricultural processing and financial services – for which any African country is eligible (multi-country or regional projects are also eligible).

A recent Annual Review of the Zimbabwe

window of the AECF, noting the rather sharp reduction in the quality and size of recent applications to the fund, concluded that the first two rounds of funding had already selected most of the larger and more straightforward projects eligible in Zimbabwe and compatible with the AECF-Z.

- ³⁶ Elliott, D. (2004), DFID Ghana Business Linkages Challenge Fund (G-BLCF) Project, Ghana, Output-to-Purpose Review. The Springfield Centre.
- ³⁷ Source: Coffey International Development (2013), "Annual Review of Pro-Poor Growth Programme in Zimbabwe".

³³ The full catalogue of challenge fund implementations is available in Annex 2.

³⁴ SIDA, op cit.

³⁵ Callan, M., and Davies, R. (2013), When business meets aid: analysing public-private partnerships for international development. Australian National University.

There is a counter view, in support of increased geographical or sector specialisation ("or" rather than "and" because specialisation in either one of these two dimensions tends to weaken the case for specialisation in the other). This is based on the rationale that targeted challenge funds allow the fund managers to develop a deeper local or sectoral understanding of the context from which proposals have been generated. This knowledge should allow fund managers to assess the quality of individual proposals more effectively. Importantly, a thorough understanding of specific market systems also should allow fund managers to better identify individual projects which, if approved, may have more significant replication, scale-up or systemic effects.

In short, it is important challenge funds are neither so narrow and specific that innovative new ideas are excluded, nor so broad that the projects collectively fail to trigger any systemic change in their sub-sector. As Heinrich has suggested, a more targeted approach can support a critical mass of projects in sector or geographical area. This critical mass of activity can stimulate the "crowding in" effect, which can create a cumulative challenge fund impact that is more than the sum of the projects that have been directly funded.

3.2 Role and cost of the fund manager

As suggested earlier, the role of fund manager can be described as "light touch", or more intensive across two different dimensions. The first is the type of market actor that the challenge fund will fund.

You may have a challenge fund focused on one particular group of actors (e.g. private actors only) or a fund that allows funding to a broader range (e.g. private, governmental and/or civil society). There are pros and cons to these different approaches.

A "light touch" approach describes the arrangement (not uncommon for challenge funds) where the fund management focus their engagement with private sector partners. An approach which confines itself to private sector partners, and even more restrictive than this to private sector partners seeking funding from the challenge fund, is less difficult and cheaper to manage.

An alternative role for the fund manager is to involve and, in some cases, fund government organisations, regulatory agencies and business associations. This more holistic partnership arrangement may also be associated with a more "hands on" developmental approach to fund management, which looks beyond the selection of financially viable projects that offer significant development impact. While this approach does have the potential to scale-up the development impact of a challenge fund, it also demands a more "hands on", and expensive, model of fund management. This may require management fees to increase to 30% of the grant disbursed, or more.

The second dimension of the role of the fund manager involves the **actual scope of activities undertaken**.

At the "light touch" end of the spectrum, the role of the fund manager is limited to promoting the existence of the challenge fund, selecting appropriate projects and monitoring the use of the fund. The very practical benefit of this is that the management fee for fund management service will often be lower and will tend to focus upon the management of the fund. Management fees of about 20% of the grant funds disbursed over the lifetime of the challenge fund – in some cases up to six years, so just over 3% per year – are viable for this form of "light touch" management.

At the other end of the spectrum, fund managers may be very much more engaged and be responsible for market system assessments, trying to stimulate broader changes in the market system, in addition to supporting the individual projects of selected grantees. The fund manager may also support grantees from weaker organisations with technical and project implementation support. There are sound development reasons for adopting a more engaged fund manager role. However, this heavier role is more expensive and will typically cost 30% or more of grant disbursed. As illustrated, there are clear pros and cons of adopting a "light touch", or a more engaged fund manager role across both of these dimensions - and the choices made are a fundamental aspect of challenge fund design.

30%

A hands on approach to fund management is more expensive and will typically cost 30% of grants disbursed or more Donors use both "light touch" approaches that use financial incentives to spur private sector entrepreneurship, and more engaged approaches that seek to address capacity and information deficits, coordination failures and often provide or facilitate financing. Trying to distil a general trend is difficult, but there is some evidence that the pendulum has swung from "light touch" with the early challenge funds (to maximise impact and justify the use of this aid modality), to "handson" (to improve the developmental impact of challenge funds) – and back again to "light touch", driven principally by value-for-money considerations.³⁸

An interesting recent trend has been for DFID to embed a challenge fund within a market development programme. This has been a feature of the Growth and Employment in States programmes in Nigeria, for instance. This arrangement should allow funds to benefit from existing knowledge of market systems which has already been generated by the nonchallenge fund element of the programme.

3.3 Size of the grant

The appropriate scale of challenge funds, both in terms of the individual grant (or loan) size and also the scale of the initiative as a whole, varies widely.

The first generation of challenge funds were designed on the premise that large grants to larger enterprises would lead to higher level of efficiency and impact. In terms of efficiency, this hypothesis largely holds - provided potential grantees have the capacity to absorb the scale of funding available. It is often as expensive to administer smaller grants as compared with larger grants - particularly if the former are to organisations which require significant support from the fund manager. In addition to efficiency, there are plausible grounds for expecting larger grants to stronger organisations to achieve large-scale or systemic development impacts, and much more significant counterpart contributions to match aid grants.³⁹

However, smaller grants to less-established firms generally demonstrate much clearer additionality. This is a critical justification for the use of public aid for private organisations. In addition, the political sustainability (both in the donor and recipient countries) for enterprise challenge funds rests on their support for local enterprise development. Challenge funds are likely to be scrutinised vigorously if they are perceived to bypass indigenous enterprise and restrict themselves to risk reduction services for multinational corporations.⁴⁰

3.4 Attitude to risk

As outlined in the introduction, risk is not just an inherent feature of challenge funding – it is also a fundamental requirement to justify the application of public funds to private corporate entities. A grantee with a financially and developmentally viable investment that has a low-risk profile should be able to raise investment finance from existing capital markets. Using challenge funds in this context would risk investments in projects with poor additionality and have potentially marketdistorting effects.

As a consequence, the generally held view is that, as risk capital, challenge funds should not attempt to totally avoid risk. A portfolio approach can be used to mitigate the risk to the whole fund of any individual project failing. In fact, attempting to avoid risk at the level of individual project selection raises the danger of challenge funds using public aid trying to "pick winners" (i.e. support projects that would probably have happened without public support and, therefore, demonstrate weak additionality). In addition, "picking winners" raises the danger of "crowding out" of competitors in the sector by conferring an unfair advantage on one particular firm. Under the guise of market development, the risk of actually generating competitive asymmetries - where particular firms are given privileged access to finance and other support - is difficult to defend as a legitimate use of public aid.

³⁸ Development Policy Centre (2013), Working Group on Enterprise Challenge funds background papers for the second and third meetings, Australian National University.

³⁰ Heinrich, M. (2013), Donor partnerships with Business for Private Sector Development: What can we Learn from Experience?, DCED.

These pressures have created complicated countervailing pressures for challenge fund managers. On the one hand fund managers are under pressure from their donors to demonstrate rapid and significant impact, keep the proportion of project failures to reasonable levels and minimise the management costs of challenge funds. On the other hand, an aid modality designed to transparently select the best project against a range of commercial and development criteria should, on market development criteria, be able to defend itself against the charge of "picking winners".

There is clear tension between the pressure to deliver results and value-for-money but also to deliver public aid in a way that can be justified on market-development principles. Some challenge funds have sought to justify their approach as not "picking winners" but rather "starting races". As is suggested later, to deliver on this claim may require a revision of the financing modalities of challenge funds.

3.5 Who manages the challenge fund?

Our sample of enterprise challenge funds illustrates that it is common practice for donors to outsource management of enterprise challenge funds to external companies – and almost always to private sector development consultancies. Underlying this is a belief that private sector consultancies and, occasionally international NGOs, are better suited to run private sector development programmes than public organisations. Interestingly, the authors of this guide were unable to find any evidence to support (or refute) this belief.

3.6 Decentralisation

Some challenge funds have a decentralised structure. This allows fund management to gain context specific knowledge, have closer contact with beneficiaries and integrate more closely with other donor initiatives.

Conversely, centrally managed facilities have the potential to generate and share knowledge and market the fund to a wider range of business partners. There is a trend for centralised challenge funds to develop into consolidated, multi-donor programmes such as the AECF, which has fund resources of some £200m sourced from a range of bilateral agencies. These consolidated funds should be able to offer a scale, efficiency, visibility and impact which are greater than smaller, isolated challenge funds. These consolidated funds also offer donors some mutual reassurance that the use of public subsidies to private sector actors is a justifiable use of aid, and some protection against charges of bias in the selection of grantees.

3.7 Financing options

The extent to which technical expertise is offered varies across different challenge funds. In some cases challenge funds mainly (or in the case of the Business Innovation Facility, exclusively) offer technical support to businesses. More often a blend of technical and financial support is offered with an emphasis on financial support.

Most challenge funds use matching grants to businesses. The grant is "matching" because the grant award from the challenge fund is conditional upon leveraging at least a similar magnitude of funding from the grantee organisation (normally in the form of finance, but sometimes as "in kind" contributions⁴¹). This is the mechanism used to share risk between the challenge fund and grantee and ensure grantee ownership of the project.

Leverage ratios are often one of the key indicators of success by challenge funds. Typical leverage ratios for challenge funds vary from 1:1 (meaning each \pounds 1 of grant levers the same quantity of external funds) to 1:4. The achievement of high leverage ratios allows fund promoters to claim, with justification, that the challenge fund is incentivising private sector investment and is generating an impact which is a multiple of the outlay of aid funds. Leverage ratios are a useful part of the justification for applying public subsidies to the private sector. The danger of having too strong a focus on leverage ratios is that it may encourage fund managers to be too risk averse and choose well-capitalised grantees for which the additionality of the challenge fund and nondistortionary impact of aid is most difficult to demonstrate. The matching fund requirements of challenge funds can, paradoxically, create a barrier to entry for the firms which are most in need of grant finance.

The use of grant finance for most challenge funds is based on a range of arguments from the pragmatic to the conceptual. Administering grants is much easier, and therefore cheaper, than loan, equity or quasi-equity financial instruments. From a public aid perspective there is, strangely enough, a value-for-money driver incentivising donors to give money away for free to businesses. Using grant finance rather than loans also allows challenge fund promoters to claim that they are not competing with banks, and therefore not distorting markets. The weakness of these justifications for the use of grant for challenge funds has caused some donors and practitioners to consider the application of a broader range of financial instrument options.

The AECF offers a mix of grants and loans to grantees, and a blend of the two in non-recourse grants/loans. The logic of this approach is robust, namely that firms which have received aid funding and have successfully generated a healthy financial return should return a proportion of the subsidised finance they have received. This logic should be balanced against the perverse incentives generated by a challenge fund where success is penalised with a higher cost of capital.

Some donor agencies are considering a range of financing options and complementing grants with loans, guarantees or equity (often with an element of subsidy) rather than providing pure grant support alone.⁴² This is an encouraging development, and indicates that development practitioners are starting to consider the different financing needs of diverse grantees as well as the requirements of donor organisations in the design of challenge fund instruments. These innovative design concepts do, however, present significant management and resultsmeasurement implications for many public donor organisations. If adopted, donor organisations will need to develop longer time horizons and a more nuanced range of criteria by which to assess the results of challenge funds, to accommodate these financing options.

A more radical approach is to question whether challenge funds should pay for inputs or results. Typically, enterprise challenge funds approve a project proposal for a specific business and a subsidy is paid to get the project implemented. Generally the level of subsidy is fairly fixed – irrespective of the impacts achieved by the funding. This arrangement does not completely align the incentives of the funder and the grantee. It also implies that the funder carries most of the risk for failure to deliver project results.

An alternative approach is to reward businesses ex-post for having already achieved specified development impacts. The advantage of this approach is that the challenge fund will only disburse if impact is demonstrated - so the risk of innovation not working is carried by the potential grantee. The incentive effect of this results-based approach could stimulate innovation amongst a group of companies rather than just privileging a single grantee business. In a true sense this approach would be "starting races" with real competitive neutrality, rather than "picking winners" Under the scenario of results-based aid, the distinction between challenge funds and prize funds melts away - because both require entrepreneurs to invest at their own risk and only receive compensation if the investment achieves the desired outcomes.

A legitimate concern with this results-based aid approach is that businesses need to have up-front financing capacity to implement the initiative (for which they will only receive ex-post funding if results are achieved). But many companies which otherwise respond to challenge funds do not have this finance available. Such an approach would also require the funding agency to know in advance what results is being aimed for, and the likely costs of achieving these results.

LEVERAGE RATIOS range from

Meaning each £1 of grant levers the same quantity of external funds

1:4

⁴² Development Policy Centre (2013), Working Group on Enterprise Challenge Funds background papers for the second and third meetings, Australian National University.

In summary, challenge funds are an extremely diverse category of aid modality. The design of challenge funds can vary across a broad range of dimensions and choices made during design will determine the development objective which the fund is able to deliver. The evidence reviewed does not suggest that there is a "correct" blueprint for challenge fund design – the appropriate choice will depend upon what is the objective and context of the fund itself. Funds vary in terms of:

- the geographical and sectoral focus of the fund – from specialist challenge funds focusing on a single sector in a single country, where fund managers have significant context and sector knowledge – to very broad funding windows with fewer restrictions on eligible applicants;
- the role of fund manager varies between a "light touch" and less expensive approach focusing almost
- entirely on private sector grantees and a narrow range of activities, to a more holistic approach that
- engages with a broad range of potential grantees and offers a wide range of services to grantees;
- the size of fund disbursements, from very large disbursements to relatively established businesses with high leverage ratios and strong institutional capacity (but sometimes with questionable additionality), to smaller disbursements with weaker firms but often higher additionality;
- balancing project risk between relatively low-risk projects with institutionally strong grantees and more secure results but the potential danger of funding "crowding out" commercial funding sources, and generating competitive asymmetries. On the other hand more risky investments are less likely to secure funding from elsewhere but are more risky to administer and manage;
- decentralised challenge fund structures will generally have a richer knowledge of the local context and the grantee – but will be less able than centralised fund structures to realise economies of scale and share
- knowledge between a range of different places; and

 the simplicity of grant management should be traded off against the potential distortions created by subsidies, and the concentration of risk of projects failing to deliver results with the challenge fund financier. Conversely, more complex financial instruments with a lower level of subsidy offer an attractive alternative to the standard matching grant product – but are more difficult to manage and may present insurmountable barriers to entry for lessestablished potential grantees.

4.0 Assessment of Impact

4.1 Quality of evidence

Most evaluations of challenge funds focus on relatively easy-to-measure indicators, which are fairly low along the results chain - such as leverage ratios and the outreach of funds and their impact on the commercial viability of grantee businesses. These are useful indicators of the extent to which challenge funds have stimulated private sector investment, engaged with businesses and generated profitability and gross jobs. Only recently have donors articulated the clear need to understand the higher-level outcomes and impacts of enterprise challenge funds (propoor net jobs and incomes). This need for robust evidence on the development outcomes of funds is demonstrated by the investment DFID is making in monitoring and independent evaluation of challenge funds. Notwithstanding the huge volume of monitoring and evaluation reports generated since the late 1990s, we are still unable to assess whether challenge funds are, in addition to being good for business, good for development. This is because most monitoring and evaluation exercises focus too low down the results chain and, even those that do try to measure development impacts, generally fail to do so with sufficient rigour.

The most confident review of impacts of challenge funds can be found in the 2012 SIDA guide. In it, a positive overall assessment is proposed, on the basis that most of the funded projects are reported to be achieving stated objectives. Additionality, in the sense that challenge funds are achieving development outcomes which otherwise would not have occurred, also appear to be satisfactory. The SIDA review does, however, acknowledge the paucity of evidence on the systemic development impact of challenge funds.

Others are more circumspect.⁴³ They suggest that it remains plausible that, for certain types of investment, a oneoff injection of aid funds without much other engagement could deliver,

across a portfolio of activities, development results substantial enough to dwarf the costs of any failed activities. In other words, that challenge funds may have a positive net effect.

While hardly ringing endorsements, most other reviews on the effectiveness of challenge funds are more sanguine. Interestingly, the discussion focuses less upon whether challenge funds are effective or not, and more on whether we have sufficient evidence to even address the question.

Challenge funds and the paucity of evidence at outcome and impact level

In her survey of public–private partnerships with business for private sector development for the Donor Committee for Enterprise development, Heinrich notes that 'we know relatively little about the results achieved, and in particular, their development impacts' (2013).

Despite the significant funding provided to challenge funds, there is currently little evidence to show whether they achieve the anticipated development impacts (Kessler 2013).

Despite the very substantial resources spent through such mechanisms, there is very little evidence that subsidies spur firms to undertake innovative activities that they otherwise would not have undertaken (Campos 2013).

4.2 Evaluation

Given the fact that DFID has sponsored at least 14 challenge funds and each one is subject to a plethora of reviews (annual reviews, midterm reviews and project completion reviews), it may seem counter-intuitive to suggest there is a lack of reliable evidence. However, this is indeed the case. While there are a large number of reports monitoring and reviewing challenge funds, there are very few evaluations that are sufficiently robust to generate evidence of a quality that allows us to draw conclusions about the key issues identified in the previous section (i.e. additionality, competitive asymmetry, systemic change, development outcomes, etc.) with confidence.

⁴³ Callan, M. and Davies, R., op cit.

Part of the reason for this lack of rigorous evaluation is that it is expensive. The cost of thorough M&E for DFID's largest challenge fund – the £300m Girls Education Challenge – is about 5% of total grant disbursements.

This situation is, however, changing rapidly for the better. DFID is increasingly appointing independent evaluators at the beginning of programme implementation. Evaluation is also beginning to receive the magnitude of funding required to undertake robust evaluations. It will take time for the outputs of these evaluations of the current pipeline of on-going projects to emerge but they will generate evidence that is sufficiently robust to allow us to thoroughly assess the impact of aid across a broad range of modalities.

There is also potential for fund managers to aid evaluators in understanding challenge fund impacts through designing monitoring systems which prioritise scarce M&E around grants delivering greater results.

Cost-effective monitoring: Finding the bright spots in the AECF

In a recent review of the resultsmeasurement system of the Africa Enterprise Challenge Fund (AECF)⁴⁴, pragmatic proposals were made for a tiered approach to measuring results. In common with most challenge funds, about 80% of total AECF results are delivered by onethird of the total of 200 funded projects. For these projects, it is proposed to undertake a beneficiary model based upon a poverty assessment and clear results chain, an independent baseline and verification study and twice annual visits from the fund manager to verify that the monitoring system is accurately capturing development impact.

This approach is obviously resource intensive – so the projects which fail to deliver results, or deliver much more modest results will be monitored much less intensively. This is an innovative approach aiming to improve results measurement without being hugely expensive in either donor M&E costs or business disruption.

Girls Education Challenge, Department for International Development

A recent movement towards addressing the evidence gap for challenge fund impact is the evaluation of the GEC, DFID's largest challenge fund which implements across 16 countries and 40 projects. This three-year project is using innovative evaluation techniques, including experimental, quasiexperimental and theory-based designs to evaluate the impact, effectiveness and value for money of each funding window and the programme as a whole. The GEC offers:

Independence

The multi-country evaluation is overseen by an evaluation manager who maintains an independent, impartial and objective role in delivering research, management and reporting responsibilities required of the function.⁴⁵ While there are clear benefits to taking a collaborative approach to evaluation at project and programme levels, the evaluation manager is committed to ensuring that the objectivity and impartiality of the programme evaluation is not compromised by this approach.

Assessments of attribution

All projects are encouraged to establish a counterfactual through the identification of control or comparison groups, either in the form of schools or communities that have not been exposed to the project's activities. In exceptional cases where a project is unable to establish a counterfactual position for impact evaluation purposes, an alternative evaluation design is developed to ensure that the research undertaken is as rigorous as possible given the project's circumstances.

Assessments of additionality

The approach to evaluating the aggregate impact of the GEC programme involves a combination of three analytical techniques:

- Aggregated project impact evaluation (and where possible systematic review of the size and type of effects) using impact evaluation evidence externally commissioned by grantees and quality assured by the fund manager and evaluation manager.
- Meta-analysis (statistical analysis) of programme impacts and cross-cutting thematic analysis using project-level data (subject to the availability of good-quality raw data) to evaluate project effects (impacts) and effectiveness in different contexts.
- Thematic studies using quantitative and qualitative primary research conducted by the evaluation manager to identify what works in a particular contexts with regards to a variety of mechanisms for change.

⁴⁵ The Evaluation of the Girls Education Challenge Fund is managed by Coffey International Development on behalf of DFID. It has been recommended that the first step in improving future design for inclusive business approaches should be multi-donor, multiprogramme evaluation of current and past approaches - with specific consideration of the advantages and disadvantages of enterprise challenge funds compared with other approach, for instance valuechain initiatives.⁴⁶ The advantage of this proposal is that it would generate evidence more rapidly than having to wait for current projects to be implemented and evaluated from the start. The disadvantage with this form of recallbased exercise is that the project-level information on which it would rely may be insufficiently robust to meet the definition of an evaluation. This would be, in effect, a meta review of challenge funds and other approaches – rather than an evaluation.

4.3 Assessment of current practice

Any analysis of current practice requires a benchmark against which we can assess performance. Fortunately the DCED standard provides a plausible, if not universally accepted, framework. This standard was designed to enable the impact of private sector development projects to be assessed (not evaluated) internally. It provides a framework for monitoring and measuring results. The DCED standard has recently been applied to a number of challenge funds⁴⁷ including the Enterprise Challenge Fund and the AECF.

4.4 Donor Committee for Enterprise Development (DCED) Standard

The DCED standard aims to provide a practical toolkit for private sector development practitioners to monitor the progress of private sector development programmes towards objectives. The standard comprises an 8-step approach to capturing results, which can be integrated into challenge fund management (see Annex 3).

Drawing on the above standard, a recent DCED study⁴⁸ has looked to integrate these principles into a practical set of recommendations for improving the M&E of impact from challenge funds. The recommendations here refer specifically to the private sector, but could also be implemented for civil society challenge funds:

- 1. Developing a clear results-measurement system from the beginning By making results-measurement responsibilities clear from the start, key requirements – for example providing specific data against indicators, and agreeing to host project visits – can be made into a contractual requirement for the grantee.
- 2. Ensuring results measurement provides mutual benefits for the business Indicators can be generated that inform both the results-measurement system of the fund, and also allow the business to keep track of their commercial performance.
- 3. Taking a portfolio approach to monitoring and evaluation

Many challenge funds have supported both successful and unsuccessful projects, and lesson-learning on why some projects have failed is an important step in improving best-practice. In order to best utilise limited resources, fund managers should be given the freedom to monitor some projects in more depth than others based on criteria such as cost, success or the degree of innovation. An example framework for prioritising projects that require more rigorous monitoring and evaluation is set out in Table 2:

⁴⁶ Callan, M. and Davies, R., op cit.

⁴⁷ Kessler, A. (2013), Measuring Results in Challenge Funds: Practical Guidelines for Implementing the DCED Standard, DCED.

⁴⁸ DCED (2013b), Guidance on how to use the DCED Standard to measure results in Challenge Funds (DRAFT).

Cotogory	Lougl of analysis
Category	Level of analysis
Starting point for all projects	 Results chain developed linking grant funding and ultimate impact.
After eighteen months, all projects are assessed and moved into category B or A	 Small baseline conducted after project starts but before any changes have occurred.
	 Indicators developed and monitored with small sample sizes.
Category B: Projects with a low size,	 Indicators monitored to assess attributable changes for enterprise and beneficiaries. (e.g. profits, yields)
strategic importance, potential	 Businesses self-report and visited to validate reports.
benefits or innovation	• Beneficiary level data verified by checking with a small number during field visit.
Category A:	All "category B" monitoring, plus:
Projects with a high size, strategic importance, potential	 Indicators monitored to assess attributable change in impact indicators (such as income, other benefits for household)
benefits, innovation, or potential to change market system	 Rigorous studies (mixed methods, larger samples) to validate findings and collect information from direct beneficiaries.
	 Systemic change assessed by talking with different players, looking at market trends, and linking to project activities.
	 Further case studies examine aspects of project (e.g. gender)
Closed projects: Projects which closed because they were not financially successful	• If a grantee is not financially successful, monitoring could usefully extract lessons for the challenge fund and other inclusive businesses in the region. This is likely to be based around a case study which analyses the factors contributing to the closure of the project.

Table 2: Example framework for prioritising M&E within a challenge fund portfolio⁴⁹

4.5 Does current practice meet the standard?

There are several areas of the standard where challenge funds perform reasonably well. For instance:

- Recent challenge funds have made much more systematic efforts to develop a strategic framework and articulate a results chain. This is necessary to assess what to measure and how and who should do it. In the past, the performance of challenge funds in this area has been mixed.⁵⁰
- 2. The **tracking of programme costs**, in the sense of knowing how much was spent, has been achieved very successfully by challenge funds. This reflects the fact that fund managers have been outsourced to competent professional service organisations.

Challenge funds have been less effective at:

 Tracking what challenge fund projects have achieved, the development impact of the spending has been very much weaker than the financial performance of the business supported. Financial data are easier to collect from the grantees, who may have little interest or understanding of development issues. Where development impacts data is provided by the grantee, notwithstanding the bias which is inherent to the provision of data from supported projects, this is rarely verified with the necessary rigour. As the table below demonstrates, the assessment of impact is often complicated by the selection of vague criteria against which to assess development impact.

2. Basic evaluation principles such as additionality (at input, output or behavioural levels) and attribution are often not considered adequately in most challenge funds. These principles are important for any rigorous assessment of an aid project, but even more so for a challenge fund. This is because, with a challenge fund modality, is it entirely possible for a supported project to display excellent leverage and development impact, with zero input or output additionality (meaning that the project generates

49 Kessler, A., op cit.

⁵⁰ Enterprise Challenge fund (2009) Mid Term Review

significant private sector development but would have gone ahead without the use of aid funds). The risk of this undesirable outcome clearly increases as challenge funds support projects from a large and wellcapitalised grantee, with only "light touch" input from the fund manager.

- 3. Whilst many enterprise challenge funds have scalability or replicability as core objectives, which should follow through from the demonstration of a successful project - only a very few challenge funds can demonstrate this (Development Policy Centre, 2013). This is important because, conceptually, enterprise challenge funds - whether or not they are explicitly seeking systemic effects - should aim to maintain competitive neutrality and avoid competitive disadvantage for other firms that already are operating, or wish to enter, the same market as a supported project. In other words, "starting races" rather than "picking winners". The risks of failing to ensure competitive neutrality are that any benefits generated and claimed by a supported project may simply have been displaced from another firm that has been excluded from the market. To maximise the chances for challenge fund impacts being replicable and scalable, it is important that the fund manager has access to market assessments to understand market failure risks and the functioning of market systems. This information will allow fund managers to select grantees that have characteristics which are sufficiently similar to a much broader population of enterprises - and so are more likely to be able to scale up from pilot successes with challenge fundfinanced projects.
- 4. The reporting of the results of challenge funds is not characterised by the widespread dissemination of rigorous assessment of fund performance. This is mainly because there is a dearth of robust assessment material. However, even if the material existed, it is important that a neutral entity is engaged to disseminate it to avoid the current situation where methodologically weak reviews demonstrating the success of challenge funds are distributed either by commercial organisations that are managing funds, or by the donors who are financing them.⁵¹

Progress is being made with the technical challenge of introducing rigorous evaluation of future challenge funds. An essential pre-condition for robust evaluation is the publication of the results, whether they are flattering to the donor or service provider, or not. It is important that the development sector rapidly develops a culture of accountability, transparency and selfcritical improvement so that, when evaluations of challenge funds become available, they are disseminated widely and objectively.

In summary, then, the monitoring and evaluation material generated by challenge funds has been extensive - but not entirely helpful. We know a great deal about the operational performance of funds, and this does generate some useful ratios that can be compared between different funds. However, the key contemporary debates tend of focus on the design and development impact of challenge funds and, on these issues, our empirical foundations are shaky. The paucity of reliable evidence to inform the issues which are of most interest to the development community will not endure. Concrete steps have already been taken to progressively fill this gap in our evidence base. Notwithstanding this, it is frustrating that these positive recent initiatives are likely to take several years before we can answer the most fundamental question about the application of challenge funds to development problems - are the development outcomes they generate better than those produced using other aid modalities?

5.0 Learning the lessons from challenge funds

Challenge funds have an aura of success that is based on shaky foundations. There are numerous examples of successful outputs achieved and impressive leverage ratios – but comprehensive analysis to determine their effectiveness for achieving development impacts to date is almost entirely absent. Hopefully the current emphasis on M&E in new funds will improve this situation.

Seven of the key lessons that have emerged from this review of challenge fund literature and implementation experience are outlined below.

- Enterprise challenge funds can cause damage as well as good, and funds should adopt a "do no harm" principle. Fund managers should seek to ensure that funded projects do not compromise the competitive neutrality of other businesses in the sector, nor displace either commercial sources of finance or livelihoods from other firms in the sector. This can be achieved by fund managers having an active understanding of the market system context in which they disburse grants.
- 2. The rationale for challenge funds is to work in partnership with the private sector to generate sustainable development that benefits the target population, but we have very little evidence to assess whether funds are actually delivering these results. Monitoring of challenge funds must be significantly and urgently improved. Development indicators should be carefully monitored and fund managers should not rely on grantees to be the main source of information on the impact of projects on poverty. Programmes should consider the applicability of the DCED standard to challenge funds, and in particular the nuanced application of the standard across a programme's portfolio.
- 3. DFID should identify a number of priority challenge fund programmes for rigorous

evaluation. Independent evaluators should be appointed at the start of fund implementation, and should use rigorous research methods to assess the development impact of the intervention, with a particular focus on demonstrating project attribution, additionality, replication and scale-up, and development impact. The results of independent evaluations should be published, disseminated widely and the results should inform future designs.

- 4. DFID should fund a thematic evaluation of the challenge fund model – through an ongoing, centrally commissioned cluster evaluation of the priority challenge fund evaluations identified above, which will improve the understanding of the necessary context and conditions for success. This study could also be used to draw crosscomparisons with other modalities.
- 5. Pursuing a "light touch" approach to fund management may appear attractive in terms of restraining fees to below 20% of challenge fund disbursements but this may be a false economy. Allowing insufficient funding to conduct robust design and sufficient market system and sector-specific research to understand how projects could have a catalytic effect, without disadvantaging other businesses in the sector, is poor development practice. These difficulties are compounded when challenge funds target very fragile contexts and are dependent entirely upon a demand-side response from appropriate businesses. Adopting an appropriate degree of targeting will support the accumulation of this knowledge and insight, as will combining challenge funds as one component of a larger market-development programme.
- 6. The development of a broader range of financing options than the standard matching grant product traditionally offered by challenge funds should be considered. Potential grantees do not all face the same development obstacles, and it demonstrates a lack of imagination and local knowledge to offer a single financial instrument as a response. Fund managers should consider equity, loan and hybrid support as well as the scope for results-based aid.
- 7. Challenge funds do not represent a short-cut to good development practice. Like any other development modality, challenge funds are an instrument which, if used correctly, will generate significant and sustainable development impact. Challenge funds do not obviate the need to define strategic frameworks; plausible results chains and theories of change; appropriate exclusion and selection criteria and monitoring and evaluation frameworks. The selection criteria for each challenge fund (including innovation) are levers to be adjusted by the fund manager, in accordance with the wider strategic framework for the fund.

References

http://www.imurabba.org/

Africa Enterprise Challenge Fund (2013). www.aecfafrica.org

Ashley, C. (2009). Harnessing Core Business for Development Impact: Evolving Ideas and Issues for Action, ODI Background Note, London: Overseas Development Institute (ODI).

Bays, J., and Jansen, P. (2009). "Prizes: A Winning Strategy for Innovation", in What Matters.

Perspectives, No. 22, Gothenburg.

Buigues, P.-A. and Sekkat, K. (2011). "Public subsidies to business: An international comparison", in **Journal of Industry, Competition and Trade,** 11, pp. 1–24.

Buse, K. and Waxman, A. (2001). **Public–private health partnerships: a strategy for WHO,** Bull WHO; 79:9; http://www.scielosp.org/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext &pid=S0042-96862001000800011

Business Innovation Facility (2013a). http://businessinnovationfacility.org/

- (2013b) Report on the Strategic Review of the Business Innovation Facility (BIF) Operating Model for Delivering Market System Change.

BLCF: Assessing Achievements and Future Directions.

Callan, M. and Davies, R. (2013). When business meets aid: analysing public–private partnerships for international development, Australian National University: Development Policy Centre, Discussion Paper 28, http://ssrn.com/abstract=2252309

Civil Society Challenge Fund (2013). https://www.gov.uk/civil-society-challenge-fund

Coffey International Development (2013). Annual Review of Pro-Poor Growth Programme in Zimbabwe, ARIES report.

Commission for Africa (2005). Our Common Interest: Report of the Commission for Africa.

http://gemsnigeria.com/construction-ideas-fund/

http://www.ilo.org/public/english/employment/ent/coop/africa/ areas/challenge.htm

DFID (1998). Enterprise Development Evaluation Synthesis.

— (1999) Terms of Reference: Business Linkages Challenge fund manager.

(1999b). Terms of Reference: Financial Deepening fund manager.

(2006). Rationale for Africa Enterprise Challenge Fund (AECF).

- (2011a). DFID's Approach to Value for Money (VfM).

----- (2011b). The engine of development: The private sector and prosperity for poor people, https://www.gov.uk/government/ uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/67490/Privatesector-approach-paper-May2011.pdf

(2012). Promoting innovation and evidence-based approaches to building resilience and responding to humanitarian crises: A DFID Strategy Paper, https://www. gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ file/193166/prom-innov-evi-bas-appr-build-res-resp-hum-cris.pdf

(2013a). https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/ department-for-international-development

(2013b). How to Note: Assessing the Strength of Evidence.

— and Swiss Development Cooperation (2008). The Operational Guide for the Making Markets Work for the Poor (M4P) Approach.

Development Innovation Ventures (2013). http://www.usaid.gov/div

Development Policy Centre (2013). Working Group on Enterprise Challenge Funds Background papers for the second and third meetings, Crawford School of Public Policy, Australian National University, 2 October 2013.

DCED (2013a). http://www.enterprise-development.org/page/ measuring-and-reporting-results

Elliott, D. (2004). **DFID Ghana Business Linkages Challenge Fund (G-BLCF) Project, Ghana, Output-to-Purpose Review.** Durham: The Springfield Centre.

- (2013). Exploding the myth of Challenge Funds a start at least. Durham: The Springfield Centre, http://www.springfieldcentre.com/resources/soap-box/

Barlow, S. and Bekkers, H. (2009). Enterprise Challenge Fund – Mid-term Review Final Report, Durham: The Springfield

ECF (2009). Mid-term Review

(2012). A report on the outcomes of the ECF portfolio

http://www.ifad.org/ruralfinance/poverty/innovation.htm

http://www.competecaribbean.org/program/enterprise-innovationchallenge-fund

European Commission (2013). http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/ thefunds/regional/index_en.cfm

FDCF (2004) FDCF: Assessing its Achievements and Possible **Future Directions.**

(2005). Strategic Project Review.

(2007). http://collections.europarchive.org/ tna/20081202180014/financialdeepening.org/default. asp?id=711&ver=1

---- (2008). Project Completion Review.

http://www.financialeducationfund.com/

Food Retail Industry Challenge Fund (2013). https://www.gov.uk/food-retail-industry-challenge-fund-frich

Girls Education Challenge (2013). http://www.pwc.co.uk/government-public-sector/centralgovernment/the-girls-education-challenge.jhtml

Gradl, C., and Knoblock, C. (2010). Inclusive Business Guide: How to Develop Business and Fight Poverty, Berlin: Endeva.

Grand Challenges Canada (2013). http://www.grandchallenges.ca/

Grand Challenges Explorations Initiative (2013). http://www. grandchallenges.org/explorations/Pages/introduction.aspx

Grand Challenges for Development (2013). http://www.usaid.gov/grandchallenges

Assessing the potential for tackling gender challenges in development" UNU-WIDER, Working Paper 043.

Hall, B. (2005). "The Financing of Innovation", in **Oxford Review** of Economic Policy.

and Lerner, J. (2009). The Financing of R&D and Innovation. National Bureau of Economic Research, Working Paper 15325.

Hall, S., and Mawson, J. (1999). Lessons for area regeneration from policy development in the 1990s. Joseph Rowntree

Heinrich, M. (2013). Donor partnerships with business for private sector development: what can we learn from experience? Working Paper. DCED. http://www.enterprise-development.org/ page/download?id=2147

Innovations Against Poverty (2013). http://www.sida.se/English/ Partners/Private-sector/Collaboration-opportunities/Challenge-Funds/Innovations-against-poverty/

Kessler, A. (2013). Measuring Results in Challenge Funds: Practical Guidelines for Implementing the DCED Standard. DCED.

Kindornay, S. and Reilly-King, F. (2013). Investing in the Business of Development: Bilateral Donor Approaches to Engaging the Private Sector. Ottawa: North South Institute and CCIS.

London, T. (2009). "Making Better Investments at the Base of the Pyramid", in **Harvard Business Review,** (May): 106–113.

M4P Hub (2013). www.m4phub.org

Mas I. and Ng'weno, A. (2009). Three keys to M-PESA's success: Branding, channel management and pricing, Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation.

agricultural innovation in low-income regions", in AgBioForum, 6(1&2), pp. 71–4. http://www.agbioforum.org

Michelini, L. and Fiorentino, D. (2012). "New business models for creating shared value", in **Social Responsibility Journal**, 8:4, pp. 561–77.

Oakeley, R., Stewart, T. and Taylor, B. (2013). Strategic Review of the Business Innovation Facility: Report on the Strategic Review of the BIF Operating Model for Delivering Market System Change. Durham: The Springfield Centre.

Overseas Development Institute (2010). Global Funds: Allocation Strategies and Aid Effectiveness.

(2013). Understanding Challenge Funds (DRAFT).

ProPoor Innovation Challenge (2013). http://www.ifad.org/ruralfinance/poverty/innovation.htm

(2013). https://www.gov.uk/responsible-and-accountablegarment-sector-challenge-fund

Sawaed Programme (2013) http://www.mbrfoundation.ae/English/ Entrepreneurship/Pages/Sawaed.aspx

SIDA (2012). Challenge funds: A guide based on SIDA's and other actors work using Challenge Funds in development assistance/as a method for development.

Taylor, B. (2013). "Evidence-Based Policy and Systemic Change: Conflicting Trends?", in Springfield Working Paper Series (1),

Innovation: A Practical Guide to Early-Stage Financing", in United Nations Economic Commission for Europe.

USAID (2013). 20 years of USAID economic growth assistance in Europe and Eurasia, http://www.usaid.gov/sites/default/files/ documents/1863/EE_20_Year_Review.pdf

Vietnam Business Challenge Fund (2013). http://www.vbcf.org.vn/

Wach, E. (2012). **Measuring the "Inclusivity" of Inclusive Business,** IDS Practice Paper 9, Institute of Development Studies.

World Bank Technical Paper, No. 311.

Working Group on Enterprise Challenge Funds (2013). Background Paper.

World Bank (2001). Implementing the Market Approach: An Evaluation of Ten Matching Grant Schemes, Europe and Sector Unit.

- (2013). Ease of doing business rankings http://www.doingbusiness.org/rankings

Annex 1: How to implement a challenge fund

Selection processes

As per the definition of challenge funds for this guide, selection processes for allocating funding are competitive, whereby a limited pool of funds is available, and eligible applications undergo a comparative evaluation with the best applications receive funding. The precise mechanism for allocating funds can vary with each challenge fund, but typically comprises a two-stage process:

- 1. The first stage involves submission of a **concept note**, which outlines the project and how it meets the eligibility criteria of the fund. Concept notes are reviewed for eligibility by the fund manager.
- 2. Eligible concept notes are invited to develop an **application**, setting out the full business case for the proposed project. Applications are appraised by an independent assessment panel comprising recognised technical experts and representatives of the donor organisation.

The rationale behind this two-stage process is to ensure that the transaction costs for the both applicant and the fund manager are minimised by eliminating proposals that are very unlikely to be awarded grants at the concept note stage. A two-stage selection process is thus viewed as a reasonable means for filtering and choosing among proposals.

Costs

Evaluations of completed challenge fund implementations to date illustrate that there is a positive relationship between the number of challenge fund grants and the cost of management resources, and that management cost ratios are lower where aggregated value of funds are higher.⁵²

There is limited examination of the distribution of these costs along the duration of the challenge fund. However, a brief analysis of the FDCF aligns with the experience of many fund managers, that challenge fund costs tend to be front loaded, and require heavier inputs during the setup and grantee selection stages than during monitoring, evaluation and dissemination stages.⁵³

Financial and administrative arrangements

Set up

A large proportion of the fund managers' inputs are likely to be required during the establishment stage to agree the eligibility criteria and processes for assessing concept notes and applications with programme stakeholders. During this stage, the fund manager will need to decide how the fund will be marketed, and establish the payment mechanisms for disbursing tranches to grantees.

Marketing, support to applicants and grantee selection

Once initial fund processes have been agreed, the fund manager will need to develop a pipeline of strong applications, through implementing targeted marketing, and providing support to applicants in the development of their applications to make them as strong as possible. Significant time will also be spent reviewing concept notes and applications against the fund eligibility criteria and making recommendations on funding decisions to the independent assessment panel. It will also be important to conduct due-diligence on applicants, to minimise fiduciary risk to donor funds.

Monitoring and Evaluation

Once grantees have been selected, the main role of the fund manager is to provide supervision and support to grantees throughout implementation, to ensure that project progress against pre-agreed timeframes and milestones in line with any agreed M&E frameworks. The fund manager will also need to oversee processes for disbursing monies to grantees that have met targets, and preparing portfolio reports to programme stakeholders on project progress and grant expenditure.

Eligibility criteria

While challenge funds vary in their geographic and sectoral scope, they tend to share eligibility criteria that are consistently applied. Generally, all applicants must be able to demonstrate that they have a clean legal and ethical

⁵² ECF, op cit., and FDCF (2005), Strategic Project Review.

⁵³ FDCF (2008), Project Completion Review.

record, and the necessary financial systems in place to minimise fiduciary risk and ensure transparent management of donor monies.

Another common requirement of challenge funds at the project level is that there must be a demonstrable need for funding that cannot be secured through mainstream forms of commercial finance. If projects cannot demonstrate this, then there are questions over the additionality of the challenge fund mechanism, as there is a significant risk that financial support may be provided to a project that would have happened anyway.

When setting eligibility criteria for challenge funds, a delicate balance must be achieved between ensuring funds are open enough so as to encourage submissions from a wide range of private actors, while still being sufficiently well-defined in scope to ensure that grant support is targeting activities that can legitimately claim to be stimulating development.

Payments to grantees

Despite the obvious benefits to donors of disbursing payments to grantees once project outputs have been achieved, in practice it can often be more difficult to implement. In the case of smaller firms that are seeking funding for early stage innovations, they might not have the financial capital available to carry the full cost of project activities. Therefore in order to combat this, it is likely that either the pool of applying organisations is narrowed to larger companies with greater financial capital, or alternatively a more flexible approach to private sector financing may need to be considered.

Monitoring progress of challenge fund projects

Although a number of monitoring and evaluation frameworks have been proposed for challenge fund projects (these are outlined in Chapter 4), there is limited literature outlining standard practical procedures for monitoring the progress of challenge fund portfolios. Therefore the following sections are based on first-hand practitioner experiences.

Grantee reporting

Once grant funds have been allocated, it is important for fund managers to maintain proper oversight of the project portfolio, and in turn request and review reports from grantees. Typically, progress reports are submitted by grantees every quarter and on completion of the project, detailing the current status of project activities against a set of preagreed milestones in their contract. In the case of particularly innovative projects, it may also be a contractual requirement for grantees to document lessons learnt from research and development, piloting or trialling a particular model, and for these to be shared with programme stakeholders. Through this reporting process, fund managers liaise with project managers and request evidence of progress (for example expenditure receipts) before approving disbursements and requesting donors to release tranches where milestones have been met. In the case of remotely managed projects, it may also be necessary for duediligence visits to project sites to generate a comprehensive understanding of the progress made by the project.

Fund manager reports to programme stakeholders

The fund manager may also be required to provide reports to donors and other programme stakeholders summarising the progress of the challenge fund portfolio. The structure of the report can be adapted to meet individual needs, but typically comprises the cumulative disbursements made to each project.

Engagement with external evaluators

In terms of the arrangements for conducting evaluations, there is a sense in which best practice requires an independent assessment process. Evaluators should be independent of all fund activities to ensure impartiality, and also given the freedom to consult with all stakeholders involved in the challenge fund, particularly:

- Successful bidders at concept note and application stage (who may or may not have had access to support from the fund manager);
- 2. Unsuccessful bidders at concept note and application stage;
- 3. Members of the assessment panel;
- 4. The fund managers

Evidence from the ECF and BLCF evaluations indicates that evaluators have drawn from a variety of project and grantee reports and held interviews with grantees at project sites. Evaluators have been expected to triangulate responses from programme stakeholders so that accurate impressions of impact are documented.

Timing of independent evaluations

Of the external evaluations that have been conducted for DFID and AusAID challenge funds, no clear guidance has been provided in the reports on the timing of external evaluations . In terms of the timing of reviews for the ECF, BLCF and FDCF, evaluations have been conducted to aid donors in deciding on whether to allocate further tranches of funding. However, almost all of the evaluations have indicated that it is premature for mid or end of term for challenge funds to assess long-term development impacts, and that even short-term development impacts have been difficult to determine except where projects outline a clear Theory of Change.⁵⁴

⁵⁴ Enterprise Challenge fund (2009) Mid Term Review and; Financial Deepening Challenge fund (2008) Project Completion Review

	Annex 2:
C	Challenge
	fund ca
	cataloque

Base Status Francial Despending Fund Basines Unlegas Challenge Fund Beains Unlegas Status Open Cal Open Cal<	WA				
Brancul Despering Chalenge Fund Business Unlages Chalenge Fund Business Unlages Chalenge Fund Seed Open Call Open Call Open Call Noteward Seed	50+			6-15 5000 10 000 10 0000	
Brancail Deepending Chalenge Fund Bariness Linkages Chalenge Fund Seed Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Statistics Fund Manger Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Statistics Fund Manger Open Call Open Call Statistics Fund Open Call Statistics Fund Manger Open Call Statistics Fund Manger Open Call Statistics Fund Manger Open Call Statistics Fund Manger Open Call Statistics Fund Manger Open Call Statistics Fund Manger Open					
Enancial Deepening Chalenge Fund Barines Linkages Chalenge Fund Sead Stand Open Call Open Call <t< td=""><td>Technical Assistance</td><td></td><td>Grants</td><td>Grants</td><td>nce</td></t<>	Technical Assistance		Grants	Grants	nce
Financial Desponing Challenge Fund Business Linkages Challenge Fund Business Linkages Challenge Fund Gene Brown Call Open Call	SMEs, National Corporates, International Corporates	National Corporates, International ates	Civil Society, SMEs, National Corporates, International Corporates, Research Institutions	Civil Society, SMEs, National Corporates, International Corporates	
Stepsile Financial Despending Challenge Fund Business: Unkages Challenge Fund Business Unkages Challenge Fund Seet Se	Independent Fund Manager		Independent Fund Manager	Independent Fund Manager	gements
Bancy Service Francial Despending Challenge Fund Business: Linkages Challenge Fund Real Copen Call Innovations: Against Poverty Bancy Carl Independent Fund Manager Copen Call Copen Call <td>Selective</td> <td></td> <td>Selective</td> <td>Selective</td> <td></td>	Selective		Selective	Selective	
Shep Francial Deepening Challenge Fund Business Unkages Challenge Fund Incountons Against Povery Venomennetis Independent Fund Manager Open Call Open Call Open Call Venomennetis Independent Fund Manager Spath	Seed, Start up, Expansion/Scaling	up, Expansion/Scaling	Seed	Seed	Development Stage
Step Francial Deepening Challenge Fund Business Unkages Challenge Fund Incountors Against Povery Venoponetis Independent Fund Manager Open Call Independent Fund Manager Independent Fund Manager Independent Fund Manager Independent Fund Manager Open Call <	Business Innovation Facility		Vietnam Market Participation Challenge Fund	Financial Education Fund	
Stop Francist Despining Challenge Fund Business Linkages Challenge Fund Invegendent Fund Manager Invegenden					
Francial Deepening Challenge Fund Business Linkages Challenge Fund Immovities Against Poverty Seed Seed Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Independent Fund Manager Independent Fund Manager Independent Fund Manager Independent Fund Manager Independent Fund Manager Independent Fund Manager Independent Fund Manager Independent Fund Manager Independent Fund Manager Independent Fund Manager Independent Fund Manager Independent Fund Manager Independent Fund Manager Independent Fund Manager Independent Fund Manager Independent Fund Manager Independent Fund Manager Seed. Start-up. Expansion/Scaling Seed. Expansion/Scaling Seed. Expansion/Scaling Seed. Start-up. Expansion/Scaling Seed. Expansion/Scaling Conton - I.000.000 Seed. Expansion/Scaling Solph Independent Fund Manager Independent Gund Manager Independent Gund Manager Independent Fund Manager Seed. Expansion/Scaling Comporates. International Comporates Solph Solph Solph Solph Solph Solph Independent Fund Manager Independent Fund M	50-250,000		0-50,000, 250,000-1,000,000	50-250,000, 250,000-1,000,000	Size of Grants
Francial Deepening Challenge Fund Business Linkages Challenge Fund Incontrol Comporters, International Corporates, In	6-15		50+	16-50	
Financial Despening Challenge Fund Business Linkages Challenge Fund Investions Against Povery Seed Open Call O	10,000,000+	100,000	10,000,000+	10,000,000+	
Functial Despening Challenge FundBusiness Linkages Challenge FundRotext Nucleon SequenceSeedCopin CallOpin CallOpin CallOpin CallOpin CallIndependent Fund ManagerNGOs, SMEs, National Corporates, InternationalNGOs, SMEs, National Corporates, InternationalOpin CallGrantsGrantsCopin CallNGOs, SMEs, National Corporates, InternationalNGOs, SMEs, National Corporates, InternationalInto00000+NGOs, SMEs, National Corporates, InternationalNGOs, SMEs, National Corporates, InternationalSectorInto00000-NGOs, SMEs, National Corporates, InternationalSectorSectorInto00000-NGOs, SMEs, National Corporates, InternationalSectorSectorIntolacionologiangAfrica Entrprise Challenge FundSeed, Expansion/ScalingSeed, Expansion/ScalingNetro Call and SelectiveOpen Call and SelectiveSeed, Expansion/ScalingSeed, Expansion/ScalingIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerSeed, Expansion/ScalingIndependent Fund ManagerSeed, Expansion/ScalingSeed, Expansion/ScalingSeed, Expansion/ScalingIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerSeed, Expansion/ScalingSeed, Expansion/ScalingIndopendent Fund ManagerSeed, Expansion/ScalingSeed, Expansion/ScalingSeed, Expansion/ScalingIndopendent Fund ManagerSeed, Expansion/ScalingSeed, Expansion/ScalingSeed, Expansion/ScalingIndopendent Fund ManagerSeed, Expansion/ScalingSeed, Expansion/ScalingSeed, Ex	Grants		Grants	Grants	Type of Assistance
Financial Deepening Challenge FundBusiness Linkages Challenge FundInnovations Against PovertySeedOpen CallOpen CallOpen CallIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerOpen CallIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerGrantsIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund Manager10,000,000+GartsIndependent Fund Manager10,000,000+Independent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund Manager10,000,000+Independent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund Manager10,000,000+Solon-1,000,000Garts20,000-1,000,000Solon-1,000,000Independent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerSeed. Expansion/ScalingIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerOpen Call and SelectiveIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerOpen Call and SelectiveIndependent Fund ManagerIndopondent Fund ManagerOpen Call and SelectiveIndependent Fund ManagerIndopondent Fund ManagerOpen Call and SelectiveIndependent Fund ManagerIndopondent Fund ManagerSolon-1,000,000Indopondent Fund ManagerGartsSolon-1,000,000Indopondent Fund ManagerIndopondent Fund ManagerSolon-1,000,000Indopondent Fund ManagerGartsSolon-1,000,000Indopondent Fund ManagerGartsSolon-1,000,000Indopondent Fund ManagerSolon-1,000,000Solon-1,000,000Indopondent Fund ManagerGarta Challeng	Civil Society, SMEs, National Corporates, International Corporates, Research Institutio	rporates	Civil Society, SMEs, National Corporates, International Corporates, Research Institutions	SMEs, National Corporates, International Corporates	Target Beneficiaries
Financial Depending Challenge Fund Business Linkages Challenge Fund Imovations Against Poverty Seed Open Call NGOs, SUES, National Corporates, International Sound-1,000,000 Sound-1,000,000 </td <td>Donor</td> <td></td> <td>Independent Fund Manager</td> <td>Independent Fund Manager</td> <td>Management Arrangements</td>	Donor		Independent Fund Manager	Independent Fund Manager	Management Arrangements
Financial Deepening Challenge FundBusiness Linkages Challenge FundInnovations Against PovertySeedOpen CallOpen CallSeedPene CallOpen CallOpen CallOpen CallIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerVational Corporates, International CorporatesCorporates, InternationalCorporates, International10,000,000-GrantsCorporates, InternationalCorporates, International10,000,000-GrantsCorporates, InternationalCorporates, International10,000,000-SoloSoloSolo10,000,000-Africa Enterprise Challenge FundEnterprise Challenge FundSeed, Start-up, Expansion/ScalingSeed, Expansion/ScalingSeed, Expansion/ScalingOpen Call and SelectiveOpen Call and SelectiveIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerSeed, Expansion/ScalingSeed, Start-up, Expansion/ScalingOpen Call and SelectiveSeed, Start-up, Expansion/ScalingSeed, Start-up, ScalingIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerSeed, Start-up, ScalingSeed, Start-up, ScalingIndependent Fund Manag	Open Call		Open Call	Open Call	
Financial Despening Challenge FundBusiness Linkages Challenge FundInnovations Against PovertySeedOpen CallOpen CallSeedIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerNational CorporatesIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerNGOS, SMEs, National Corporates, InternationalCorporates, InternationalIndependent Fund ManagerNGOS, SMEs, National Corporates, InternationalNGOS, SMEs, National Corporates, InternationalIndependent Fund ManagerNGOS, SMEs, National Corporates, InternationalNGOS, SMEs, National Corporates, InternationalIndependent Fund ManagerNGOS, SMEs, National Corporates, InternationalSof+Independent Fund ManagerSeed, Expansion/ScalingSeed, Expansion/ScalingSeed, Stat-up, Expansion/ScalingSeed, Expansion/ScalingSeed, Expansion/ScalingOpen Call and SelectiveIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerSeed, Expansion/ScalingIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerSeed, Statonal Corporates, InternationalIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerSeed, Statonal Corporates, InternationalSe	Seed	business cooperatives	Seed, Expansion/Scaling	Seed	Development Stage
Financial Depending Challenge FundBusiness Linkages Challenge FundInnovations Against PoverlySeedSeedSeedSeedSeedOpen CallOpen CallOpen CallOpen CallIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndoponates, International Corporates, International Independent Fund ManagerSeed. Expansion/ScalingSeed. Expansion/ScalingVent Call and SelectiveIndependent Fund ManagerSeed. Expansion/ScalingSeed. Expansion/ScalingVent Call and SelectiveIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerSeed. Expansion/ScalingVent Call and SelectiveSeed. Expansion/ScalingSeed. Expansion/ScalingIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerSeed. Expansion/ScalingIndependent Fund Man	Grand Challenges Explorations Initiative		Grand Challenges Canada	Enterprise Innovation Challenge Fund	
Financial Depening Challenge FundBusiness Linkages Challenge FundInnovations Against PoverlySeedSeedSeedSeedPopen CallOpen CallSeedIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerRational Corporates, International CorporatesRGCs, SMEs, National Corporates, InternationalRogen CallGrantsGrantsGrantsCorporates, International10:000,000+50+50+So(000-1,000,00010:000,000-1,000,00050,000-1,000,00050+Souldy Challenge FundSo(00-1,000,000So(00,000,000,000,000,000,000,000,000,000	50-250,000, 250,000-1,000,000	, 250,000-1,000,000	50-250,000, 250,000-1,000,000	50-250,000, 250,000-1,000,000	
Financial Deepening Challenge FundBusiness Linkages Challenge FundInnovations Against PovertySeedOpen CallOpen CallSeedSeedIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerOpen CallOpen CallNational Corporates, International CorporatesIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund Manager10,000,000+GrantsGrantsGrants10,000,000+50,000-1,000,000+50,000-10,000,00010,000,000Sol+20,000-10,000,00010,000,000Sol+20,000-10,000,00010,000,000Sol+20,000-250,00010,000,000Sol+20,000-250,00010,000,000Sol+20,000-250,00010,000,000Sol+Sol+20,000-1,000,000Sol+Sol+20,000-1,000,000Sol+Sol+10,000,000Sol+Sol+20,000-1,000,000Sol+Sol+20,000-1,000,000Sol+Sol+20,000-1,000,000Sol+Sol+20,000-1,000,000Sol+Sol+20,000-1,000,000Sol+Sol+20,000-1,000,000Sol+Sol+20,000-1,000,000Sol+Sol+20,000-1,000,000Sol+Sol+20,000-1,000,000Sol+Sol+20,000-1,000,000Sol+Sol+20,000-1,000,000Sol+Sol+20,000-1,000,000Sol+Sol+20,000-1,000,000Sol+Sol+20,000-1,000,000Sol+Sol+20,000,000+Sol+ <td>16-50</td> <td></td> <td>50+</td> <td>50+</td> <td></td>	16-50		50+	50+	
Financial Deepening Challenge FundBusiness Linkages Challenge FundInnovations Against PovertySeedOpen CallSeedSeedIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerNational Corporates, International CorporatesIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund Manager10.000,000+GrantsGrantsGrants10.000,000-1.000,00050+2.000,000-1.000,00050+250,000-1.000,00050+2.000,000,000,00050+10.101 Society Challenge FundAfrica Enterprise Challenge FundEnterprise Challenge FundIndependent Fund ManagerOpen Call and SelectiveSeed, Exarangion/ScalingSeed, Exarangion/ScalingOpen Call and SelectiveOpen Call and SelectiveOpen Call and SelectiveOpen Call and SelectiveIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerSMEs, National Corporates, InternationalSeed, Exarangion/ScalingCarants and Technical AssistanceGrantsSMEs, National Corporates, InternationalSmets, National Corporates, InternationalGrants and Technical AssistanceGrantsGrantsSmets, National Corporates, International	2,000,000-10,000,000	10,000,000	10,000,000+	10,000,000+	
Financial Deepening Challenge FundBusiness Linkages Challenge FundInnovations Against PovertySeedSeedSeedSeedOpen CallOpen CallOpen CallOpen CallIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerNational Corporates, International CorporatesGrantsGrantsIndopo.000-GrantsGrantsGrants10.000.000-1.000,00050+S0+S0+250,000-1.000,000S00-1.000,000S0+Vil Society Challenge FundAfrica Enterprise Challenge FundSeed, Expansion/ScalingSeed, Start-up, Expansion/ScalingSeed, Expansion/ScalingSeed, Expansion/ScalingOpen Call and SelectiveOpen Call and SelectiveSeed, Expansion/ScalingIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerMetagerVil SocietyCorporatesSMEs, National Corporates, InternationalIndependent Fund ManagerSMEs, National Corporates, InternationalSMEs, National Corporates, International	grants		Grants	Grants and Technical Assistance	Type of Assistance
Financial Deepening Challenge FundBusiness Linkages Challenge FundInnovations Against PovertySeedOpen CallSeedSeedOpen CallOpen CallOpen CallOpen CallIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerNational Corporates, International CorporatesNGOs, SMEs, National Corporates, InternationalNGOs, SMEs, National Corporates, InternationalGrantsGrantsGrantsGrants10,000,000+50+2,000,000-10,000,00016-5050+50+250,000-1,000,00050+50+250,000-1,000,000S0+50+250,000-1,000,000S0+50+250,000-1,000,000S0+S0+250,000-1,000,000S0+S0+250,000-1,000,000S0+S0+250,000-1,000,000S0+S0+250,000-1,000,000S0+S0+250,000-1,000,000S0+S0+250,000-1,000,000S0+S0+250,000-1,000,000S0+S0+250,000-1,000,000S0+S0+250,000-1,000,000S0+S0+250,000-1,000,000S0+S0+250,000-1,000,000S0+S0+250,000-1,000,000S0+S0+250,000-1,000,000S0+S0+250,000-1,000,000S0+S0+250,000-1,000,000S0+S0+250,000-1,000,000S0+S0+250,000-1,000,000S0+S0+250,000-1,000,0	National Corporates, International Corporat		SMEs, National Corporates, International Corporates	Civil Society	Target Beneficiaries
Financial Deepening Challenge FundBusiness Linkages Challenge FundInnovations Against PovertySeedSeedSeedSeedOpen CallOpen CallOpen CallSeedIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerNational Corporates, International CorporatesNGOs, SMEs, National Corporates, InternationalNGOs, SMEs, National Corporates, InternationalGrantsGrantsGrantsGrants10,000,000+50+2,000,000-10,000,00050+16-5050+2,000-1,000,00050+250,000-1,000,00050+50+50+250,000-1,000,000250,000-1,000,00050+Vill Society Challenge FundAfrica Enterprise Challenge FundEnterprise Challenge FundSeed, Start-up, Expansion/ScalingSeed, Expansion/ScalingSeed, Expansion/ScalingOpen Call and SelectiveOpen Call and SelectiveOpen Call and Selective	Independent Fund Manager		Independent Fund Manager	Independent Fund Manager	
Financial Deepening Challenge FundBusiness Linkages Challenge FundInovations Against PovertySeedSeedSeedSeedOpen CallOpen CallOpen CallOpen CallIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerNational Corporates, International CorporatesNGOs, SMEs, National Corporates, InternationalNGOs, SMEs, National Corporates, InternationalGrantsGrantsGrantsGrants10,000,000+50+S0+S0+16-50S000-1,000,000S0+S0+250,000-1,000,000250,000-1,000,000S0+Vill Society Challenge FundAfrica Enterprise Challenge FundEnterprise Challenge FundSeed, Start-up, Expansion/ScalingSeed, Expansion/ScalingSeed, Expansion/Scaling	Open Call and Selective		Open Call and Selective	Open Call and Selective	
Financial Deepening Challenge FundBusiness Linkages Challenge FundInovations Against PovertySeedSeedSeedSeedOpen CallOpen CallOpen CallOpen CallIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerNational Corporates, International CorporatesNGOs, SMEs, National Corporates, InternationalNGOs, SMEs, National Corporates, InternationalGrantsGrantsGrantsGrants10,000,000+50+50+50+250,000-1,000,000250,000-1,000,00050+250,000-1,000,000Africa Enterprise Challenge FundEnterprise Challenge Fund	Seed, Expansion/Scaling		Seed, Expansion/Scaling	Seed, Start-up, Expansion/Scaling	Development Stage
Financial Deepening Challenge FundBusiness Linkages Challenge FundInnovations Against PovertySeedSeedSeedSeedOpen CallOpen CallOpen CallOpen CallIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerNational Corporates, International CorporatesNGOs, SMEs, National Corporates, InternationalNGOs, SMEs, National Corporates, InternationalGrantsGrantsGrantsGrants16-5050+50+50+250,000-1,000,000250,000-1,000,00050+950,000-1,000,00050+	Food Retail Industry Challenge Fund		Africa Enterprise Challenge Fund	Civil Society Challenge Fund	
Financial Deepening Challenge FundBusiness Linkages Challenge FundInnovations Against PovertySeedSeedSeedSeedOpen CallOpen CallOpen CallOpen CallIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerIndependent Fund ManagerNational Corporates, International CorporatesNGOs, SMEs, National Corporates, InternationalNGOs, SMEs, National Corporates, InternationalGrantsGrantsGrantsGrantsGrants10,000,000+50+50+50+10,000,000Grants50+		0,000-200,000		בארי החה- ו'יהההי הריה	
Financial Deepening Challenge Fund Business Linkages Challenge Fund Innovations Against Poverty Seed					
Financial Deepening Challenge Fund Business Linkages Challenge Fund Innovations Against Poverty Seed Seed Seed Seed Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Independent Fund Manager Independent Fund Manager Open Call Open Call Vational Corporates, International Corporates NGOs, SMEs, National Corporates, International Corporates NGOs, SMEs, National Corporates, International Corporates NGOs, SMEs, National Corporates, International Corporates Grants		ט,עעט- וט,עעע,עעט	50 -	10,500	
Financial Deepening Challenge Fund Business Linkages Challenge Fund Innovations Against Poverty Seed Seed Seed Seed Open Call Open Call Open Call Open Call Independent Fund Manager Independent Fund Manager Independent Fund Manager Independent Fund Manager National Corporates, International Corporates NGOs, SMEs, National Corporates, International Corporates NGOs, SMEs, National Corporates	Grants for Technical Assistance		Grants		
Financial Deepening Challenge Fund Business Linkages Challenge Fund Innovations Against Poverty Seed Seed Seed Open Call Open Call Open Call Independent Fund Manager Independent Fund Manager Independent Fund Manager	Civil Society (MFIs)	SMEs, National Corporates, International ates	NGOs, SMEs, National Corporates, International Corporates	National Corporates, International Corporates	
Financial Deepening Challenge Fund Business Linkages Challenge Fund Innovations Against Poverty Seed Seed Seed Open Call Open Call Open Call	Donor		Independent Fund Manager	Independent Fund Manager	Management Arrangements
Financial Deepening Challenge Fund Business Linkages Challenge Fund Innovations Against Poverty Seed Seed	Open Call and Selective		Open Call	Open Call	
Business Linkages Challenge Fund Innovations Against Poverty	Seed		Seed	Seed	Development Stage
	ProPoor Innovation Challenge	Against Poverty	Business Linkages Challenge Fund	Financial Deepening Challenge Fund	-

Annex 3: The DCED Standard for Results Measurement

Elements of the DCED Standard 55

- Articulate the results chain. Results chains visually represent how project activities are expected to lead to outputs, outcomes and impact, showing the anticipated causal links and relationships between them. They clearly demonstrate what the project is doing and what changes are expected.
- 2. Define indicators of change. An indicator specifies what you will measure in order to see whether change has occurred. Indicators are specified for each expected change outlined in results chains.
- 3. Measure changes in indicators. Once the indicators have been defined, they are regularly monitored to see what has changed and to help projects manage accordingly.
- 4. Estimate attributable changes. Once a change is observed, you need to estimate what can be attributed to your project. For example, an increase in jobs may be due to your project or because of the wider economic environment. Estimating attributable changes helps a project identify which interventions are working and which are not.
- Capture wider changes in the system or market. Many PSD programmes aim to affect entire market systems. Monitoring these changes helps projects identify what is working and revise implementation strategies to maximise results.
- 6. Track programme costs. In order to assess the success of the project it is necessary to know how much was spent as well as what was achieved.
- 7. Report results. Findings are communicated clearly to funders, local stakeholders, and to the wider development community where possible.

Manage the system for results measurement. For a monitoring and results-measurement system to be effective, it must be adequately resourced and integrated into all aspects of project management, informing the implementation and guiding the strategy.

Annex 4: List of Interviewees

Name	Organisation
Amanda Jupp	Enterprise Challenge Fund
Anne-Marie O'Riordan	Triple Line Consulting
Caroline Ashley	PriceWaterhouse Coopers
David Elliott	DFID
David Smith	Triple Line Consulting
Jeremy Swainson	Coffey International Development
Jonathon Ridley	Coffey International Development
Mark Winters	DFID
Simon Calvert	DFID